REFERENCE TO THEPARTrnS 

For ease of reference, Petitioner herein and Petitioner below, Gloria Cowger, shall be 

referred to as "Wife." The Respondent herein and Respondent below, Dennis Cowger, shall be 

referred to as "Husband." 

III

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. 	 The Circuit Court erred when it for~ed the Family Court to find that Husband's 
business earned zero cash income, when Husband admitted a substantial portion of 
his business' income was received in cash. 

n. 	 The Circuit Court erred in holding that the Husband's testimony about his 
unrecorded labor costs must be accepted despite the Family Court's multiple 
findings of the Husband's fraudulent representations and lack of credibility. 

INTRODUCTION 

In this spousal support case, Wife appeals the Circuit Court's reversal of two factual 

fmdings, and imposing its replacements thereof upon the Family Court. Due to the Circuit 

Court's errors, Wife's spousal support decreased from $ 1,500 to $ 439.02 per month. Both fact

findings concern how much income Husband realizes from his construction business, entitled 

DC Services. 

First, the Circuit Court obliged the Family Court to find that Husband's business earned 

absolutely nothing in cash income, when Husband had admitted below that a substantial portion 

of his business' income was received in cash. No plausible person could come this conclusion. 

Second, the Circuit Court forced the Family Court to wholeheartedly adopt Husband's 

unsupported and not credible net-income assertion for his business, and disregard over 600 pages 

of competing evidence on the same, to make a factual determination on Husband's business' 

mcome. 

The Circuit Court ignored important testimony admissions and detailed lack ofcredibility 

findings, while correspondingly failing to apply a clearly erroneous standard to factual 

determinations, which constructed the wrecking ball to family court credibility findings and the 

domain of the family courts to adopt fact findings and inferences that cannot be overturned 

unless they are implausible. 



STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case comes in front of the Supreme Court on an appeal of the Circuit Court of 

Webster County reversing Judge Jeffrey L. Hall's fact-findings and instructing him, on remand, 

to adopt the Circuit Court's substitution of the facts. As a result, Wife's spousal support was 

reduced by $1,060.98 monthly, which Judge Hall termed "a total travesty ofjustice." A.R. at 

1100. 

1. Final Divorce Order findings 

The parties were married for over thirty-three years prior to divorce proceedings. Divorce 

Order, ~ G-l, A.R. at 988. There were no minor children, and the parties reached an agreed 

property settlement, including division of pension rights. The sole issue in litigation was spousal 

support to be paid by Husband. Divorce Order, A.R. at 987-88. Throughout the marriage, Wife 

had been primarily a homemaker, with occasional short-tern1 minimum-wage jobs. Divorce 

Order, ~ G-6, A.R. at 988-89. Husband worked two jobs during the marriage, one for the Board 

ofEducation for the past 32 years, and one as the sole-owner/operator of a construction business, 

entitled DC Services, for the past 28 years. Divorce Order, ~ G-7, A.R. at 989. Husband's gross 

income from DC Services was on pace to be over $150,000 in 2015. Divorce Order, ~ G-23, at 

995. 

a. Husband's business' net income 

As the Family Court acknowledged, "most of the litigation in this case focused on the 

amount of income Respondent [Husband] realizes from his contracting business known as D.C. 

Services." Divorce Order, ~ G-18, at 991. However, the Family Court also found that 

"Respondent [Husband] has kept incomplete and poor business records, making it nearly 

impossible for anyone, be it an expert, the Court, and/or the parties, to conclusively determine 

2 


http:1,060.98


the amount of income Respondent [Husband] realizes from D.C. Services." Divorce Order, ~ G

18, at A.R. 992. 

The Family Court found that the expert witness, called to testify about DC Services' net 

income, did not conduct a detailed enough review to determine net-income; therefore Family 

Court conducted its own review. Divorce Order, at 992-996. The Family Court found the tax 

returns to be unreliable reports of business income. Id. at 992. Wife testified that she was not 

allowed to know the details of D.C. Services' finances, and that Husband kept that information to 

himself. A.R. at 772. Wife signed tax returns in other years of the marriage, under the 

assumption that her husband would report accurate numbers. A.R. at 905. However, Wife 

refused to sign the 2014 tax return, due to Husband's failure to produce verification ofhis 

business assertions. A.R. at 771-773. 

The only accounting of the business' expenditures and income were those within the 

business bank account. A.R. at 366-507,553-601,616-668. The Family Court added each line of 

five years ofbank records to determine Husband's business' bank-recorded gross income. A.R. 

at 1069,366-501,616-668. The Family Court then ordered production of cancelled checks, A.R. 

815, and reviewed each check line-by-line to determine which expenses were business related. 

A.R. at 553-601, 669-678. 

Upon review of such cancelled checks, the Family Court saw that Husband also wrote a 

significant amount of checks from the business account to himself, amounting to over $46,000 in 

2013, and such was on pace to be over $48,000 in 2015. A.R. at 1068, 1070,553-601. Husband 

testified that a portion of this $46,000-$48,000 was paid to himself, and the other portion to his 

employees. A.R. at 1068, 840-41. However, the Family Court found Husband "failed to keep any 

record of labor costs." A.R. at 1069. The question therefore became what factual determination 
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to make on labor costs, when Husband kept no record of sl,lch; and how much income Husband 

realized from DC Services, after deducting non-recorded labor costs and bank-reflected business 

expenses. A.R. at 1068-1070. 

Husband testified that his labor cost in 2013 was $25,087. AR. at 1068,845. As the 

Family Court found, Husband "offered no documentation for such a figure." Divorce Order, ~ G

20, at A.R. 993. Husband failed to provide a labor cost assertion for any other year in his 28-year 

old business. Additionally, Wife produced documentation signed by Husband that directly 

contradicted his unsupported $25,087 assertion. A.R. at 602-615. For example, Wife produced a 

Business Activity Questionnaire Husband signed in 2013 asserting that he had zero labor costs, 

and had had zero labor costs for the past four quarters. AR. 608-612. 

Furthermore, Husband admitted that he lied to various authorities on labor costs when it 

was in his benefit to do so. A.R. at 876, 903-904, 911. The Family Court found that ''there is no 

question" Husband defrauded state entities "related to worker's compensation and 

unemployment compensation" concerning labor costs. Divorce Order, ,G-20, A.R. at 993. The 

Family Court further found that Husband defrauded state authorities as to business expenditures 

and income. Divorce Order, 1G-24, A.R. at 995 

Husband also testified that he took home $1,600 monthly in 2013 from his business, and 

$1,200 monthly in 2015. A.R. at 839, 909. Husband, once again, had no documentation, Divorce 

Order, ~G-20, AR. at 993, or calculations to support his figure. The Family Court therefore 

compared Husband's assertion to his prior testimony about his business income, (A.R. at 845 and 

849), and to the undisputed bank records (AR. at 553-601, 616-668), and followed by listing 

each evidence-based reason it "does not find such unsupported testimony as credible" in the next 

eight lines of its Final Divorce Order (Divorce Order ~ G-23, at AR. at 994-95). 
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After reviewing 600 pages of exhibits (AR. at 264-764) and over six (6) hours of 

testimony (AR. at 1319-1320), the Family Court gave each party an opportunity to file post

hearing briefs on DC Services' income. A.R. at 961. Husband argued that "credibility aside, 

Respondent's [Husband's] testimony must be accepted." A.R. at 982. Husband further argued the 

Family Court "should consider [his $25,087 unsupported assertion] in placing a value on the 

Respondent [Husband's] monthly income from DC Services." AR. at 985. Wife argued that the 

Family Court should attribute $1,499 quarterly in labor cost to Husband, based in part on Wife 

producing documentation that directly contradicted Husband's unsupported labor cost assertion, 

and Husband admitting that he failed to file quarterly reports that would have been required ifhe 

spent $1,500 or more quarterly on labor. A.R. at 965-969. 

The Family Court could not produce any more documentation on labor costs, because no 

such records existed. Divorce Order, ~G-22, AR. at 994. Therefore, the Family Court weighed 

the credibility of each party's assertions on labor costs percentages. Divorce Order, ,G-22, AR. 

at 994. 

The Family Court chose not to rely on the $1,499 quarterly assertion "[b]ecause 

Petitioner [Wife] admitted her knowledge that Respondent[Husband] was paying his employees 

in cash 'under the table,'" the Family Court doubted the labor costs "were as low" as her 

suggested figure. Divorce Order, ,G-22, A.R. at 994. However, as for the Husband, the Family 

Court noted "because Respondent [Husband] failed to keep any records of labor costs, and 

because none of this analysis can account for cash not deposited into the DC Services account, 

this Court cannot conclusively conclude" that Husband's assertion figure "is correct either." ld. 

The Family Court articulated evidence-based reasons for declining to place all of its 

weight on either party's labor cost assertions. Based on the same, and Husband's failure to keep 
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any record oflabor costs, the Family Court believed it fair to average the two competing labor 

cost assertions, which it found would be 29.09 percent of Husband's net-taxable income. Divorce 

Order, ~G-22, A.R. at 994. Family Court therefore relied on Husband's lUlsupported labor figure, 

in part, to make its factual determination, despite Husband's lack of credibility. Divorce Order, 

'1(G-22, A.R. at 994. After deducting the bank-reflected business expenses, and the attributed 

labor cost, the Family Court fOlUld that Husband had the ability to earn approximately 

$28,330.80 yearly in net income. Id. 

h. Husband's business' cash income. 

Husband admitted a substantial portion of his business' income was received in cash. 

A.R. at 912. However, Husband never deposited this substantial source of income into the 

business account. A.R. at 913, 616-668. The roughly $132,000 deposited into the business 

account in 2013, would therefore not reflect this other substantial portion of income. Due to 

Husband's poor recordkeeping, the Family Court did not have records on Husband's cash-based 

income. See Divorce Order, ~G-18, A.R. at 992. Based on the evidence and the lack thereof, the 

Family Court attributed Husband approximately $2,600 yearly in cash income, Divorce Order, 

~G-24, at 995, which would amolUlt to less than two percent ofHusband's business' total 

Income. 

After factoring in Husband's Board of Education net-income of$I,592.35, the parties 

monthly expenses, and all twenty spousal support factors, W Va. Code § 48-6-301, Judge Hall 

entered an eleven-paged, single spaced, Final Divorce Order that granted Wife $1,500 spousal 

support payments. Divorce Order, A.R. at 987-997. 
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2. Appellate History 

Husband appealed the Final Divorce Order's findings on Husband's business' cash 

income and net income. Petition for Appeal, filed January 14, 2016, A.R. at 1004-1011. The 

Circuit Court waited over nine (9) months to issue a decision on appeal, l which reversed these 

fact determinations without applying a clearly erroneous standard of review. Reversal Order, 

entered September 8, 2015, AR. at 1050-1057. Four days later, the Family Court entered a Final 

Order on Remand, which found that it was "effectively forced" to rely solely on Husband's 

''wholly incredible and unsupported testimony" and ignore all of the "detailed evidence reviewed 

below." Final Order on Remand, entered September 12,2016, A.R. at 1099-1100. The Family 

Court termed resulting reduction of spousal support from $1,500 monthly to $439.02, "a total 

travesty ofjustice." A.R. at 1100. 

Wife moved the Family Court for a stay on the reduction of spousal support pending the 

outcome of Wife's appeal to the Circuit Court, AR. at 1102-1109, which was granted by the 

Family Court. Final Order Granting Stay, filed on September 30, 2016, A.R. at 1113. Husband 

filed an objection to the stay, A.R. at 1110-1112, and a motion for reconsideration of the stay, 

AR. at 1114-1116, which were both denied by the Family Court. A.R. at 1114-1126. Husband 

did not file an appeal of the Final Order Granting Stay. 

On October 12,2016, Wife filed a Notice of Appeal to the Supreme Court. She asserted 

that because the Circuit Court's remand order did not require further evidence or hearing, but 

merely non-discretionary action by the Family Court, appeal should not be precluded by Rules 

34-35 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure for Family Court. A.R. at 1191. This Court, on 

October 26,2016, refused to docket the appeal "on the basis that the family court order must first 

1 Beyond the 60-day deadline prescribed by W. Va. Code § Sl-2A-14(f). 
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be appealed to the circuit court," and extended Wife's deadline to file such an appeal to 

November 11, 2016. A.R. at 1226. 

Wife appealed the reduction of spousal support to the Circuit Court. A.R. at 1120-1125. 

No party appealed the Final Order on Remand's findings that the reduction in spousal support 

was proper, nor the multitude of findings against Husband's credibility. 

The Circuit Court did not rule on Wife's Petition for Appeal for four (4) months.2 A.R. at 

3. During that timeframe, Husband made no voluntarily payments of spousal support, at any 

amount, to his prior Wife of over thirty-three years. Contempt Order, ~ 12, at 1170, and ~ 5, at 

page 1171. Husband was correspondingly found in contempt by the Family Court. Contempt 

Order ~ 6, A.R. at 1071. However, the Family Court held the past-due spousal support in 

abeyance for 45 days or until the Circuit Court entered a decision on appeal. Id. at ~ 8, A.R. at 

1171. The day after entry of the contempt finding, the Circuit Court entered its Final Order 

refusing Wife's appeal, without substantive discussion. Circuit Court Order, entered on 

September 13,2016, A.R. at 1176. The Family Court entered an Order offsetting spousal support 

to $350.00 monthly for 92 months, based upon the Circuit Court's refusal of Wife's Petition for 

Appeal. A.R. at 1173-74. 

Wife filed a Motion for Stay of the Circuit Court's Order pending a decision on appeal to 

the Supreme Court of Appeals, A.R. at 1178, which was denied by the Circuit Court. A.R. at 

1189. Wife then filed the present appeal with the Supreme Court, on February 9, 2017. A.R. at 

1227. On April 3, 2017, Wife filed a motion for stay with this Court, A.R. at 1247, which is 

pending before this Court. Husband filed a three-page response. A.R. at 1313. 

2 Also beyond the 60-day deadline prescribed by W. Va. Code § 51-2A-14(f). 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court, at the bequest of Husband on appeal, reversed two Family Court 

factual determinations and forced the Family Court, on remand, to unconditionally adopt 

Husband's substitutions of the facts/alternate facts. Both of these alternative facts involved how 

much income Husband received from his construction business, entitled DC Services. Based on 

the substitutions of Husband's facts, Wife's spousal support was decreased by $1,060.98 

monthly, which the Family Court called "a total travesty ofjustice." A.R. at 1100. 

Husband's first alternative fact was that his business, DC Services, earned absolutely no 

cash income. However, Husband admitted during cross-examination below that a substantial 

portion ofDC Services' income was received in cash. A.R. at 912. Husband's substituted fact is 

conveniently in direct contradiction to his own testimony admission of cash income. However, 

because the Circuit Court failed to review the inclusion of DC Services' cash income under a 

clearly erroneous standard, and failed to even consider Husband's own testimony admission of 

cash income before reversing, the Family Court, on remand, was forced to make the implausible 

factual determination that DC Services, a business that earns a substantial portion of its income 

in cash, receives zero income in cash. 

Husband's second alternative fact forced the Family Court to rely entirely on Husband's 

business-net income, which the Family Court rejected below as being unsupported and not 

credible testimony, to make a factual determination on net income, Divorce Order at ~ G-23, at 

A.R. at 993-994. This is plainly wrong. A Family Court should not be forced to ignore its 

repeated lack of credibility fmdings concerning Husband, and irrefutably hand over its factual 

determination to whatever Husband wishes to assert. In support ofHusband's appeal, he 

essentially argued that since there were no records oflabor costs, the Family Court could never 
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determine with complete accuracy the labor component of business expenses, and therefore was 

required to adopt whatever net income figure Husband wished to assert. However,. the Family 

Court could not determine with a 100% accuracy how much Husband spent on labor because of 

Husband's own intentionally illegal and fraudulent acts. See A.R. 911; see also W Va. Code § 

21A-5-4. Husband kept no record oflabor costs, Divorce Order at 11 G-22, A.R. at 993; he 

admitted on cross-examination that he lied about labor costs when it was in his benefit to do so, 

A.R. at 876, 903-904; and he admitted that he knew he was supposed to keep reporting on labor, 

by law, but did not do so for reasons ofpersonal benefit. A.R. at 911. It is an error to require a 

family court to rely entirely on testimony it already found not credible and unsupported, but it 

further error to base the substitution of Husband's facts on lack of evidence that Husband 

intentionally created. Due to the these errors on appeal, and the Circuit Court's failure to apply a 

clearly erroneous standard of review, the Family Court, on remand, was forced to rely entirely on 

a net income assertion it found not credible and unsupported, and ignore 600 pages of competing 

evidence on net income. 

Wife appeals the reduction of her spousal support from $1,500 to $ 439.02, which was 

caused by the Circuit Court's appellate review errors as summarized above, and more fully 

described below. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Since the creation of the family law master system, this Supreme Court has repeatedly 

emphasized the "limited 'appellate' role of a circuit court" in reviewing findings of fact of a trier 

of fact in family law matters. Stephen L.H v. Sherry L.H., 195 W. Va. 384,393,465 S.E.2d 841, 

850 (1995), citing State ex. reI. Dillon v. Egnor, 188 W. Va. 221, 226, 423 S.E.2d. 624,639 

(1992). Circuit courts cannot overturn a finding offact unless it is clearly erroneous. Stephen 
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L.H v. Sherry L.H., 195 W. Va. 384 at 396. If factual conclusions and inferences a plausible, 

when viewing the evidence in its entirety, an appellate court may not reverse even if it would 

have weighed the evidence differently had it been the trier of fact." Stephen L.H v. Sherry L.H. 

at 386. 

In the Stephen L.H v. Sherry L.H. opinion, the Court found that while the Circuit Court 

clearly disagreed with the determinations of the facts, the circuit court "failed to demonstrate 

how those findings of fact could be characterized as clearly erroneous;" further finding "[ a]t no 

time did the circuit court make a detennination whether there was substantial evidence 

supporting the factual findings of the family law master or whether the inferences were plausible 

under the facts." Stephen L.H v. Sherry L.H, 195 W. Va. 384, 397, 465 S.E.2d 841, 854 (1995). 

Based on the same, and the findings that the Fanlily Court's fact findings and inference were in 

fact plausible, the Supreme Court overturned the circuit court's reversal order, and reinstated the 

original trier-of-fact order. Stephen L.H v. Sherry L.H, 195 W. Va. 384 at 397. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Wife and Petitioner herein asserts that this case is among the cases suitable for oral 

argument, pursuant to Rule 20 of the Rules ofAppellate Procedure. 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Circuit Court erred when it forced the Family Court to fmd that Husband's business 
earned zero cash income, when Husband admitted that his business earned a substantial 
amount of cash income. 

Both parties agreed that DC Services, like most businesses, received both check-and

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