IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS 


AT CHARLESTON 


GLORIA COWGER, 


Appellant, 

Petitioner below. 


vs. Supreme Court Case No. 17-0125 
(Civil Action No. 15-D-24, Webster 
County) 

DENNIS COWGER, 

Appellee, 
Respondent below. 

BRIEF OF APPELLEE IN OPPOSITION 
TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR APPEAL 

Comes now the Appellee, DENNIS COWGER, Respondent below (hereinafter 

'Respondent' or 'Husband'), by his attorney, Jared S. Frame, pursuant to Rule 10(d) of the Revised 

Rules of Appellate Procedure of the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, and in and for his 

Brief in Opposition to Petitioner's Petition for Appeal, does aver, depose and say, as follows:

This case started out as a typical divorce case wherein one party operated a small 

business on the side. The Respondent has been a bus driver for the Webster County Board of 

Education for over thirty (30) years, earning a modest income, and also has been operating a 

small construction business known as DC Services. DC Services does small jobs in and around 

central West Virginia. Prior to the Petitioner's expert getting involved in the litigation below, the 

Parties were not that far off in what they believed the business was earning on a monthly basis. 

In fact, the Petitioner placed in her financial statement that DC Services earned approximately 

$2,000.00 per month. See Appendix, p. 73. Said figure was calculated based on Petitioner's 

knowledge of the business from living together and being married to the Respondent for over 

thirty (30) years. 

These Parties did not live extravagantly during the marriage, a point that the 

Family Court set forth in his initial Final Order, and lived on a modest farm during the marriage. 

See Appendix, p. 987. It wasn't until the Petitioner's expert, C. Page Hamrick, got involved in 

the case that the Petitioner started to make assertions that the Respondent was making an 

extravagant living from DC Services. The Family Court acknowledged the Petitioner's expert 

report, but as set forth in the Final Divorce Order, the Family Court did not agree with the 

conclusions reached therein. See Appendix, p. 987. 

The Family Court then went through a process of reviewing bank records for 

2013, which were well over two (2) years old, to extrapolate what DC Services was earning per 

year. In this analysis, the Family Court did not take into account the Respondent's labor costs 

appropriately and also attributed the Respondent "cash income" even though there was no 

evidence presented on the same. The Family Court basically turned a small construction 

company into a "cash cow" which the Family Court believed earned far more income than was 
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feasibly possible from the bank records and testimony elicited at trial. See Appendix, pp. 991

995. 

When the Family Court issued its Final Order granting the Petitioner $1,500.00 

per month in permanent alimony, the Respondent was taken aback. At that amount, the 

Respondent would have to either file bankruptcy or dissolve the company because he could not 

afford to pay the same and remain afloat. Therefore, the Respondent immediately appealed the 

Family Court's Order. See Appendix, pp. 1002-1015. Even though the Circuit Court did not 

enter an order for some time, the result reached by the Circuit Court in reducing the alimony 

obligation of the Respondent was well thought out and based on concrete facts elicited at trial 

which the Family Court chose to ignore. In short, the Circuit Court found that awarding the 

Petitioner $1,500.00 based on the evidence presented was clearly erroneous and an abuse of 

discretion, which the Respondent believes is the correct ruling. See Appendix, pp. 1050-1057. 

As for the labor costs of the Respondent, it is uncontroverted that the Respondent 

incurred labor costs and had employees during the time period the Family Court reviewed. It 

seems as if the Family Court, when taking into account the poor record keeping of the Parties, 

punished the Respondent for paying employees "under the table." While it is not at issue that the 

Parties kept poor books, it also is not at issue that this is how small businesses tend to operate in 

order to remain viable. The Respondent and the Petitioner signed off on tax returns together for 

over thirty (30) years, but once the divorce started, apparently the Petitioner all of a sudden tried 

to change the reality ofthe Parties' business. The evidence provided by the Respondent 

regarding labor costs was the only concrete number provided to the Family Court; therefore, the 

Family Court's refusal to acknowledge the same and speculation as to what labor costs were in 

2013 (by arbitrarily dividing the Respondent's labor cost testimony with a document provided by 
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the Petitioner) was clearly erroneous, as pointed out by the Circuit Court in its Order from 

September 8, 2016. See Appendix, pp. 1054-1056. 

The cash income argument was also confronted by the Circuit Court in its review 

of this case. The Circuit Court found that there was no credible evidence of cash income 

presented in the Family Court trial. See Appendix, pp. 1050-1054. The Family Court's inclusion 

of cash income without testimony as to any such value was pure speculation. The Circuit Court 

was correct in pointing out the same in its September 8, 2016 Order. 

Therefore, the Respondent is of the belief that the Circuit Court's September 8, 

2016 Order was correct in all aspects. The instant appeal was filed at the Petitioner Wife's 

behest. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court was correct in finding that the labor costs and cash income 

attributed to the Respondent were speculative in nature and that the alimony awarded by the 

Family Court was disproportionate to the Respondent's ability to pay. 

On appeal below, the Circuit Court properly reversed and vacated the decision of 

the Family Court of Webster County, West Virginia. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The Respondent Husband asserts that this case is not suitable for oral argument 

pursuant to Rule 18( a) of the Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure, which states that frivolous 

appeals shall not be presented by oral argument. Furthermore, the Respondent Husband would 

state that the criteria set forth in Rule 19(a) of the Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure have not 

been met by the Petitioner Wife, and the Petitioner Wife's Petition should not proceed to oral 

argument. In essence, there is no unique or novel issue to be addressed by this Court through the 
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device of oral argument. 

ARGUMENT 

A. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN REVERSING AND 
VACATING THE FAMILY COURT'S SPECULATIVE INCLUSION OF 
CASH INCOME WHEN GENERATING THE INCOME FOR DC 
SERVICES 

When the Family Court included the speculative cash income that the Family 

Court believed the Respondent was earning into the income of DC Services, the Family Court 

created a situation in which the Respondent did not have the ability to pay his alimony 

obligation. West Virginia Code §48-8-103(a). Furthermore, in picking a cash income value out 

of "thin air", the Family Court did not utilize the evidence presented, and provided a speculative 

number in calculating the income from the Respondent's business. It was theses issues that the 

Circuit Court's September 8, 2016 Order remedied. See Appendix, pp. 1050-1057. 

As noted in the Family Court's Order, the Petitioner did not work, but was 

attributed minimum wage due to the fact that her health conditions did not prevent her from 

obtaining gainful employment. Therefore, the Petitioner's gross monthly income was calculated 

to be $1,386.67, or a net of$I,178.67. The Fan1ily Court also found that the Petitioner's 

reasonable monthly expenses were $2,531.56, which left a deficit of$I,352.89 per month. See 

Appendix, p. 990. 

The Family Court found that the Respondent, who is a bus driver for the Webster 

County Board of Education, earns a gross income of$32,532.50 per year, or a net of$19,108.l8 

per year, which equals a net of $1 ,592.35 per month. The Respondent's reasonable monthly 

expenses were held to be $2,670.00 per month. See Appendix, p. 995. Based on the 

Respondent's bus driving job alone, the Respondent was operating at a monthly loss (net income 
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minus expenses) of$I,077.65. 

The major issue before the Family Court was not the Respondent's bus driving 

income as set forth above, but the Respondent's side job as a general contractor. The 

Respondent owns and operates a small contracting business known as DC Services, which does 

odd jobs around the Webster County area. As set forth in the Family Court's Order, and 

undisputed by either of the Parties, the Parties did a poor job in keeping the books for the marital 

business. See Appendix, p. 992. In fact, a large portion of the litigation in the lower court was 

dedicated to determining what the Respondent earned from DC Services. 

The Family Court, in Paragraphs 18. through 24. of the Final Divorce Order 

(Appendix, pp. 991-995), found that the Respondent under reported his income from DC 

Services. The Family Court found that the Respondent was earning net income from DC 

Services in the amount of $2,360.90 per month 1, which coupled with his net monthly income 

from the Board of Education of$1,592.35, equaled a net monthly income for the Respondent in 

the amount of$3,953.25. Taking the Respondent's monthly expenses of $2,670.00, the Family 

Court found that the Respondent had an ability to pay $1,283.25 per month in alimony to the 

Petitioner. See Appendix, p. 995. 

Thereafter, the Court arbitrarily attributed the Respondent an additional $216.75 

per month in cash income, which, in the eyes of the Family Court, resulted in an ability to pay 

alimony in the amount of$I,500.00 per month. See Appendix, p. 995. The Family Court seems 

to have attributed the extra $216.75 per month based solely on the fact that the Respondent did 

not properly report all of his income. In other words, the reasoning used by the Family Court was 

1 The Family Court calculated the Respondent's income based upon a review of the business accounts for 
2013 and a portion of2015. 
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that if the Respondent did not report all ofhis income to the proper authorities, then it can be 

concluded that there was other "cash income" not found in the business bank records. See 

Appendix, p. 995. The inclusion ofthe additional "cash income" was nothing more than 

speculation on the part of the Family Court. 

Using the Family Court's numbers, the Respondent was ordered to pay $1,500 per 

month permanent alimony to the Petitioner. The alimony award to the Petitioner resulted in the 

Petitioner having monthly net income of $2,678.67 ($1,178.67 minimum wage plus $1,500.00 

alimony). Using the number the Family Court found to be the Petitioner's reasonable monthly 

expenses, $2,531.56, the Petitioner has income over and above her monthly need in the amount 

of$147.11. 

On the other hand, the Respondent's monthly net income, according to the Family 

Court, equals $2,453.25 after taking into account the alimony award to the Respondent 

($3,953.25 net income from driving bus and business minus $1,500.00 alimony award). The 

Respondent's reasonable monthly expenses were found to be $2,670.00 per month by the Family 

Court; therefore, the Respondent is now operating at a loss of$216.75 per month, which happens 

to be the magical "cash income" amount the Family Court attributed to the Respondent. 

Based on this fact pattern, the Circuit Court found that the inclusion of the 

magical "cash income" value by the Family Court was arbitrary and not based on any evidence 

presented at trial. See Appendix, pp. 1051-1054. In fact, the evidence presented at trial was 

vastly different than what the Family Court concluded in its Final Order. The relevant testimony 

presented at trial on the issue of income was as follows: 

Throughout the two (2) final hearing dates, the testimony regarding income from 

DC Services had been consistent on the part of the Respondent. From day one, the Respondent 
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stated, and testified, that he averaged around $300 to $400 per week income from DC Services. 

Some months were better (Summer) and some months were worse (Winter); however, 

throughout the year he averaged $300 to $400 per week in income from the business. See 

Appendix, pp. 845,941. 

The Petitioner Wife testified that she did not know how much income was being 

produced from DC Services, but she stated that the Respondent was giving her money during the 

week to help pay for bills and other miscellaneous items. See Appendix, pp. 765, 785. When 

specifically asked what she believed the income from DC Services was, the Petitioner referred to 

her expert's report2, and the bank statements for DC Services. Not once did the Petitioner Wife 

give the Family Court a monthly income amount, or a range of monthly income amounts, for the 

Family Court to consider in making an alimony determination. 

As the Family Court found Mr. Hamrick's report to be less than useful 

in determining the Respondent's income from DC Services, the only thing left for the Family 

Court to consider was the actual testimony from the Parties. The only testimony offered was the 

Respondent's assertion that he makes around $300 to $400 per week from DC Services. The 

Petitioner Wife did not provide any testimony regarding weekly or monthly income from DC 

Services, so between the two (2) Parties, credibility issues aside, the Respondent's testimony 

must be accepted. 

The Petitioner Wife's Financial Statement, which was filed on June 8,2015, listed 

Respondent's monthly income from DC Services at "$2,000 or more". It should be noted that it 

appears the Petitioner Wife initially put the monthly income for DC Services at $2,000, then later 

2 The Family Court acknowledged the Petitioner's expert report, prepared by C. Page Hamrick, but as set 
forth in Paragraph 18. of the Final Divorce Order, the Family Court did not agree with the conclusions reached 
therein. See Appendix, pp. 991, 992. 
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added the handwritten "or more" language. See Appendix, p. 73. The reason this is important, is 

that prior to viewing Mr. Hamrick's report, which the Family Court found to be faulty, the 

Petitioner Wife was of the opinion that DC Services generated around $2,000 per month. The 

Petitioner Wife's opinion was based upon of her knowledge of the business over a thirty (30) 

year time period during the marriage. Only after the Petitioner Wife received Mr. Hamrick's 

report did she begin to argue that the Respondent was making in excess of $5,000 per month 

from the business. In other words, Mr. Hamrick's report tainted the Petitioner Wife's opinion of 

the business, and made her contradict her initial value of the income generated from the business 

based on her extensive thirty (30) plus years of experience regarding the same. 

The argument directly above is further solidified when viewing the Petitioner 

Wife's August 20,2015 updated Financial Statement. In her updated Financial Statement, the 

Petitioner Wife states that DC Services has monthly gross income of "$2.000 or more. see expert 

report". See Appendix, p. 203. Clearly, the Petitioner Wife's estimation of the monthly income 

from DC Services was swayed by the report of Mr. Hamrick. As the Family Court found that 

Mr. Hamrick's report was not helpful in calculating the income from DC Services, the Family 

Court should have looked to the Wife's Financial Statements for guidance on formulating the 

income from DC Services. Surely the Petitioner Wife, over a thirty (30) plus year marriage, 

would have a general understanding of what the business was generating on a monthly basis. 

The bottom line is that the Petitioner Wife's Financial Statements closely mirror the testimony 

offered by the Respondent regarding his monthly income from DC Services, and therefore, the 

Family Court should have considered the same when formulating the Respondent's income from 

the business. 

As this Court can see, the Circuit Court was faced with a situation in which the 
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Family Court disregarded the only testimony provided on income, cash or otherwise, in 

formulating its alimony award. The Circuit Court was therefore correct in reversing the Family 

Court on the issue of both "cash income" and overall income, and sending the issue back to the 

Family Court on remand for calculation ofa new alimony amount. 

Lastly, the issue that the Petitioner Wife tends to gloss over in her Petition for 

Appeal is the finding of the Circuit Court that the alimony award from the Family Court was 

disproportionate to the Respondent's ability to pay. West Virginia Code §48-8-103(a). This is 

an important aspect of the Circuit Court appeal, and the Respondent would be remiss if it was not 

mentioned herein. The finding of the Circuit Court that the Respondent did not have the ability 

to pay the Family Court's alimony award was not specifically appealed herein. 

Based on the above, the Circuit Court below was correct in finding that the Family 

Court impermissibly included "cash income" in its alimony analysis when the same was 

speculative on the Family Court's part and resulted in a situation in which the Respondent did 

not have the ability to pay the alimony award. Therefore, the Circuit Court's Order should be 

affirmed on this issue. 

B. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE 
LABOR COSTS OF THE RESPONDENT IN 2013 WERE $25,087.00 
WHEN THAT WAS THE ONLY CREDIBLE EVIDENCE 
PRESENTED ON THE ISSUE OF LABOR COSTS

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